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Salsbury, Stephen

I _ _
from: Middleton, Sharon (City Council)
Sent: Wednesday, October 27, 2021 9:51 PM
To: Shea, James (Jim) L.
Cc: Salsbury, Stephen
Subject: Re: Inspector General Evaluation. Corrected copy.

Good evening Chairman Shea:
I've reviewed all written documents.
I'm in total agreement with your detailed analysis and assessment of Inspector General Cummings and the Office of the

Inspector General.

Sincerely,
Sharon Middleton

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone
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Shea, James (Jim) L.

From: Shea, James (Jim) L.

Sent: Wednesday, November 24, 2021 4:37 PM
To: Shea, James (Jim) L.

Subject: Annual Performance Review

From: Tobin, Donald <dtobin@law.umaryland.edu>

Sent: Tuesday, November 23, 2021 11:08 PM

To: Shea, James (Jim) L. <James.Shea@baltimorecity.gov>; Huber, Michael {Mayor's Office)
<Michael.Huber@baltimorecity.gov>; McClammy, Erika {Comptroller) <trika.McClammy@baltimorecity.gov>;
Middleton, Sharon (City Council) <Sharon.Middleton@baltimorecity.gov>; Costello, Eric (City Council)
<tric.Costello@baltimorecity.gov>; Ronald Weich <rweich@ubalt.edu>

Cc: Salsbury, Stephen <Stephen.Salsbury@baltimorecity.gov>

Subject: RE: Annual Performance Review

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Baltimore City IT Network Systems.

Reminder: DO NOT click links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know that the
content is safe. Report any suspicious activities using the Report Phishing Email Button, or by emailing to
Phishing@baltimorecity.gov

I am happy to sign on to the review provided by City Solicitor Shea, and have no modifications to my original letter.

Donald B. Tobin

Dean and Professor of Law
University of Maryland

Francis King Carey School of Law
{He, Him, His)



=
| UNIVERSITY of MARYLAND Donald B. Tobin

| FRANCIS KING CAREY Dean and Professor of Law
\

SCHOOL OF LAW 500 West Baltimore Street

Baltimore, MD 21201
dtobin@law.umaryland.edu

October 29, 2021

James L. Shea

City Solicitor

Baltimore City Department of Law
100 N. Holliday Street, Suite 101
Baltimore, MD 21202

Dear City Solicitor Shea,

The law deans of the University of Maryland and the University of Baltimore are
members of the advisory board in accordance with the city charter, as amended by the City
voters after appointment by the Mayor and the Chair of the City Council. The principal reason
for our membership on the Committee is to be independent members who are neither elected
officials nor employees of the city. It is that expertise | bring to this evaluation, and | have
concentrated my remarks in areas that align with that purpose.

As a start, | agree with the ultimate conclusions of City Soliciitor Jim Shea regarding the
performance of the Inspector General. | appreciate the way he has conducted this review in a
an objective, non-political way. The Board has clearly taken the independence of the Inspector
General seriously, and | appreciate the effort of the Board to move this review forward.

City Solicitor Shea’s memo outlines the Board’s investigation into the performance of
the Inspector General, and | do not have much to add to City Solicitor Shea’s review. | highlight
three areas for the Inspector General.

First, one of the most important aspects of leadership is the capacity to assemble a
team of high performing colleagues who help support and lead areas of the office. | commend
the Inspector General for bringing her top leaders to the hearing. | was impressed by both the
competence, leadership and passion of her team members who appeared at the meeting. They
demonstrated a strong knowledge of the micro issues faced by the office, and had a clear
passion for their work. The interaction and collegiality between team members reflected
positively on the Inspector General’s management.

Second, during the review hearing there was discussion with the Inspector General
about strategic planning in her office. | agree with the City Soliictor’s assessment that the
Inspector General should engage in strategic planning for her office. The strategic plan would
guide the unit’s work and provide more transparency to the people in Baltimore.

DENTISTRY « LAW + MEDICINE *« NURSING ¢« PHARMACY - SOCIAL WORK ¢ GRADUATE STUDIES



| also agree with the City Solicitor that it is important for the Inspector General to be
seen as a fair and independent examiner of cases before the office. This requires that she be
extremely careful with regard to the facts she presents and the context in which those facts are
presented.

Finally, | commend the City and its voters for seeking a means of having oversight of the
Office of the Inspector General that seeks to remove political interference. | recognize that the
Inspector General has some concerns about the organization of the Board. While an Inspector
General must be independent, there must also be some form of oversight of operations for any
public official placed with this kind of trust. | look forward to the Board working with the
Inspector General to implement clear understandings of the proper role of the Board and its
interaction with the Inspector General.

Sincerely,
Donald B. Tobin
Dean and Professor of Law

DBT/tr
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Shea, James (Jim) L.

E

From: Shea, James (Jim) L.

Sent: Wednesday, November 24, 2021 4:38 PM
To: Shea, James (Jim) L.

Subject: FW: Annual Performance Review

From: Ronald Weich <rweich@ubalt.edu>

Sent: Monday, Navember 22, 2021 7:04 PM

To: Shea, James (Jim) L. <James.Shea@baltimorecity.gov>

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

I confirm my prior review. Let me know if this email to you is sufficient, or if you want me to say it as a Reply to All.

Ronald Weich, Dean

University of Baltimore School of Law
1420 N. Charles St.

Baltimore, MD 21201

410.837.5518

rweich@ubalt.edu




UNIVERSITY OF School of Law 1420 N. Charles St T: 410.837.4458
BAIITIMDRE Office of the Dean Baltimore, MD 21201-5779 F: 410.837.4450

law.ubalt.edu

November 1, 2021

James L. Shea

City Solicitor

Baltimore City Department of Law
100 N. Holliday Street, Suite 101
Baltimore, MD 21202

Dear Solicitor Shea:

| appreciate the opportunity to serve on the Office of the Inspector General (OIG)
Advisory Board pursuant to Article X of the Baltimore City Charter. The Charter was
amended three years ago to strengthen the effectiveness of the OIG, and the deans of the
two Maryland law schools were appointed to the Board by the Mayor and City Council
President to help protect the Office’s independence. | am pleased to support these
worthy goals.

The Charter directs our Advisory Board to conduct a performance review of the
OIG. You have circulated a draft performance review and invited other members of the
Board to comment. This letter constitutes my reaction to that draft document and my
contribution to the performance review itself.

Unlike the other members of the Advisory Board, Dean Tobin and | do not work in
city government and therefore have only limited first-hand visibility into the operation of
the OIG. The thoughts expressed herein are based on my review of materials circulated
to the Board, notably the OIG's Policy Manual and Annual Reports from 2018 to 2021, the
hearing at which the Inspector General responded to questioning from Board members
and my general awareness of the work of the OIG.

| fully concur in the fundamental conclusion of the draft review that the current
Inspector General, Isabel Cumming, is “doing an effective job.” You characterize Ms.
Cumming’s Office as “hard-working, highly capable and committed to carrying out the
01G’s obligations under the Charter.” You further observe that “(t]he IG is viewed as
objective and the IG’s credibility is high.” | agree with these statements.

I wish to address two issues raised in your draft performance review: strategic
planning and OIG independence.



Strategic Planning

Your draft review encourages the OIG to engage in strategic planning. | have no
reason to doubt that the Office undertakes its work in a strategic manner based on
appropriate goals, but | agree that the publication of a formal strategic plan would be
desirable and consistent with the best practices of organizations similar to the OIG.

A number of the other suggestions in your draft review could be addressed by the
publication of a strategic plan. Such a plan could set forth the IG’s understanding of its
jurisdiction under the Charter and explain how the OIG selects matters to investigate. |
have no reason to question the IG’s current priorities, but | agree the publication of a
strategic plan would illuminate the OIG’s decision-making and enhance public
understanding of the QIG’s mission and effectiveness.

The OIG should certainly be reluctant to publish a roadmap of its investigative
strategies, but the publication of a strategic plan at the appropriate level of generality
would not compromise the agency’'s work.

Your draft document refers to several specific matters to illustrate the value of
strategic planning. | have insufficient information and expertise to assess those matters.

Independence of the Inspector General

In the draft review you stress the importance of the OIG’s independence. You
refer to independence as a “paramount necessity” and declare that one of the
fundamental responsibilities of the Advisory Board is to promote the IG's independence.
| wholeheartedly agree.

Inspector General Cumming has expressed concern about the structure of the
Advisory Board. The Charter amendment establishing the Advisory Board may be seen as
strengthening CIG independence by replacing a system in which the Inspector General
reported to a single official with a system in which oversight is diffuse. But a flaw in the
structure is that the city officials serving on the Board are always potentially the subject
of OIG investigations. Even if no occurrence of undue influence or attempted undue
influence has occurred during this process, the structure of this oversight mechanism
presents the possibility, and therefore the appearance, of such a conflict.

Among the materials submitted to the Board by the OIG is a section of the City of
Atfanta Charter establishing a Governing Board for the Inspector General of that city.
That Board consists of nine individuals appointed by the mayor and city council based on
nominations from a wide range of civic organizations. In that jurisdiction, elected city
officials have a role in the composition of the governing board through their appointing
authority but do not themselves sit on the board. This system insulates the Inspector
General from direct oversight by officials whom the IG may someday need to investigate.
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The OIG also produced a chart indicating that other jurisdictions, including
Broward and Palm Beach Counties in Florida and the City of New Orleans, avoid having
elected officials or their designees serve on their OIG advisory boards. In my view, the
Baltimore City Council should consider a further amendment to the City Charter
establishing this more indirect form of oversight.

Thank you for the opportunity to contribute to the OIG performance review
mandated by the Baltimore City Charter.

Sincerely,

Ronald Weich
Dean
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Date: November 16, 2021
To: Advisory Board . ((J)’/

From: Isabel Mercedes Cumming, Inspector General iy

Re: 2021 Performance Review

I received and reviewed the draft OIG Advisory Board’s (Board) 2021 Performance Review (Review), comprised
of a written document by the Board’s Chairman, City Solicitor James Shea (Solicitor/Chairman), as well as
supplements provided by each Board member. I would like to thank the Board for producing the first annual
performance review since the Charter amendment in 2018.

Before I respond to the Review’s contents, I would like to share some updates made by the OIG after the Board’s
August 25" meeting. Based on the Board’s suggestions during that meeting, the OIG compiled and published the
following materials, which are available on the OIG’s website:

e Public Version of OIG Policies — Published 10/12/21
¢ OIG Priority List — Published 10/29/21
¢  OIG Strategic Plan — Published 11/1/21

My response to the Review will address specific issues in the order they were raised, providing a reference to the
relevant Review section for clarity. At the outset, however, I would like to clarify the principles and standards the
OIG follows.

The Review correctly acknowledges that the OIG follows “Principles and Standards for Offices of Inspector
General” published by the Association of Inspectors General (“AlG”), commonly known as the “Green Book.”
But the Review also references and cites “Quality Standards for Federal Offices of Inspector General,” known as
the “Silver Book,” and “Quality Standards for Inspection and Evaluation,” known as the “Blue Book.” The OIG
does not follow the Silver Book or the Blue Book for the following reasons.

First, the Silver Book is followed by federal—not state or municipal—OIGs as a supplement to the Green Book.
Second, the Blue Book’s emphasis on inspections and evaluations is not relevant to the OIG’s current investigative
practice. That is, under Article X of the City Charter, the OIG is responsible for; (1) investigating complaints of
fraud, financial waste, and abuse in City government; and (2) promoting efficiency, accountability, and integrity
in City government. City Charter, Article X, § 3(b). In carrying out this mission, the OIG can utilize inspections,
evaluations, and/or investigations. Since 2018, based on available resources, the OIG has utilized investigations
as the primary tool to carry out its mission, as explained in the OIG’s Annual Reports and upon questioning from
members of the Board on August 25th. Standards for investigations are separate from standards for inspections
and evaluations within the Green Book. Accordingly, the OIG’s performance should be assessed according to the
Green Book’s standards for investigations, not those for evaluations or inspections, and not those contained within
the inapplicable Blue or Silver Books.

Response to Review Section IV — Preface

The Review stated that “[wihile it is frustrating to the IG that her authority does not include enforcement power,
it must be noted that the absence of any process following a report means that the subject of an investigation has
no forum in which to contest or disprove allegations made in a report. And the discipline that comes with the
responsibility to prove the finding of a report is absent.” First, I am not frustrated by the OIG’s jurisdiction, which
does not include “enforcement power.” I was a prosecutor for two decades before I became the IG, and I appreciate
and value the substantive differences between these two very separate functions.



Second, relatedly, it is also untrue that “the subject of an investigation has no forum in which to contest or disprove
allegations made in a report.” The OIG is only the investigator of a complaint and its process incorporates both
statements from subjects and official written responses. Unless the investigation is a criminal referral, the OIG
typically interviews the subject of a complaint and incorporates their statements in the report. Moreover, as
explained in its October 1, 2021 letter to the Board, after OIG-initiated investigations have concluded, the final
written report is provided to the action holder. The action holder is the person with authority over the report’s
subject, usually the Mayor, Solicitor, City Administrator, and/or agency head. The action holder responds to the
report and identifies any disagreement with the report’s findings and any corrective measures taken. The OIG
then drafts and publishes a public synopsis along with the action holder's response. Although there is a different
process when an elected official requests an investigation of their conduct, the OIG nonetheless publishes any
responses it receives.

Using the three examples raised in the Review, the table below shows that each agency at issue was given ample
time and opportunity to respond. Each of the responses were then published with the relevant reports.

Report Report Date Response Date Date of Publication
Carroll Park 2/11/2021 Recreation and Parks: 3/15/21 4/1/2021

(20-0063 I) Finance: 3/26/21

BCIT 6/10/2021 Chairman/Solicitor: 6/30/21 7/27/2021

(21-0001 1)

BOPA 5/4/2021 DOT: 5/24/21 6/2/2021

(20-0005 1) BOPA: 5/27/21

Response to Review Section IV(a) - Strategic Plan

The Review indicated that the OIG’s Policy Manual lacked a “reference to focus on the elimination of systemic
bias or inequity” and that the OIG’s Strategic Plan should include a focus on equity. The Green Book standards
require the Inspector General and staff to “be free from personal or external impairments to independence and
[to] constantly maintain an independent attitude and appearance.” See Green Book at 7. The OIG has incorporated
that standard into its policies.

Because the OIG focuses on investigations as the means to carry out its mission, the OIG Policy Manual sets forth
the kinds of issues and concerns that warrant investigation. Any preferences in investigative priority are based on
issue or case type, not on individuals or groups.

That said, the OIG often receives complaints about inequity in the community or workplace. In fact, two of the
examples outlined in the Review were complaints that concerned inequities. The Carroll Park case (20-0063-I)
concerned the inequity of City resources being unequally distributed between more affluent City neighborhoods
and those that are less affluent. The BCIT case (21-0001-I) concerned the inequity that lower-level employees are
not given the same options as higher-ranking employees to rundown their accrued leave and subsequently use
permission/administrative leave and other special treatment.

Response to Review Section 1V(b)(i) — Jurisdiction Under the Charter

The Review assumes that the OIG’s jurisdiction does not encompass acts of “mismanagement.” The OIG agrees
that City management decisions occur in the context of competing resources and policies, and it is not the OIG’s
role to second-guess such decisions. However, the term mismanagement does not refer to this kind of routine
governmental decision-making among competing priorities. Instead, “mismanagement” is a collective term that
encompasses acts of waste and abuse, such as the extravagant, careless, or needless expenditure of government



funds or the consumption or misuse of government property or resources, resulting from deficient practices,
systems, controls, or decisions. This definition of mismanagement has been in the OIG’s online glossary since
before my tenure as Inspector General. And it is clearly within the OIG’s jurisdiction according to the City
Charter, which vests the OIG not only with the responsibility to investigate complaints of fraud, financial waste,
and abuse, but also to “promot[e] efficiency, accountability, and integrity in City government.” City Charter,
Article X, § 3(b).

Response to Review Section I'V(b)(iii) - Examples

The complaint in the Carroll Park case (20-0063-I} alleged a lack of equity in the distribution of funds for City
parks and for Carroll Park in particular because it serves a population in a lower socioeconomic bracket. The
Review states that “[t]here is no description of the apparent choice made by the Department of Recreation and
Parks to allocate money it was given to items other than maintenance.” Although the public synopsis did not
contain such a description, the full Report of Investigation (ROI), which was given to the Chairman/Solicitor,
explained that funds for Carroll Park had been reallocated to pay a vendor for specific professional services. That
information can be found in footnote 5 of the ROI. Moreover, even the public synopsis explains the connection
between a decision to reallocate funds and perceived inequity or other abuse:

At times agencies may modify budgets or interpret allocations differently from what is advised by
the Department of Finance. Those breakdowns can lead to actual or perceived examples of fraud,
waste, and abuse. However, the OlG noted Carroll Park may have not received adequate City
resources based on a review of Carroll Park’s expenditures, the resolution and number of services
requests, and the physical condition of the recreational facilities.

With regard to case 21-0001-I, the complaint alleged a lack of equity in the treatment of agency employees
pertaining to separation from City service. Although the OIG appreciates the Chairman/Solicitor’s interpretation
and concerns in the Review, those concerns were not raised when the Chairman/Solicitor responded to the ROL.
Further, the assertion that the OIG criticized the terms of the separation agreements at issue is inaccurate. Instead,
the OIG analyzed each agreement and reported on the inconsistencies and lack of uniform policies that resulted
in inequitable severance packages offered to Managerial and Professional Society of Baltimore, Inc. (MAPS),
employees. The eight individuals outlined in the report were MAPS unrepresented and at-will employees. The
report begged the question why every MAPS at-will employee who is terminated is not offered a severance
package option. Additionally, the OIG’s report could not anticipate whether a former employee would engage in
litigation with the City because every employee has the right to sue the City if they choose. Accordingly, the OIG
reported the facts and it stands by the report.

Response to Review Section 1V(¢c) - Quality Control Processes

The Review states that “[o]ne quality control principle is that the OIG understands and assesses all sides of a
matter under investigation” and that a process for internal and external report review could satisfy this principle.
As both a Certified Inspector General and an Executive Officer of the AIG, I am aware of the importance of a
strong quality control process, which is also a crucial part of the AIG’s upcoming peer review of the OIG. The
OIG’s internal Standard Operating Procedures for Investigations thoroughly outlines a quality control process.

Response to Review Section 1V(d) - Performance Measures

The Review points out the shortcomings of utilizing dollars identified as “waste” or “savings” as a performance
measure. According to the Review, “dollars identified as saved have not actually been returned nor the
expenditures prevented.” The OIG agrees that “savings,” by nature, are not dollars that can be returned, and are
therefore different from “waste.” But identifying potentially wasteful expenditures that have been prevented can
indeed be a valuable performance measure for the OIG’s work.



The Review references the OIG’s report on the City’s Banner Program (20-0050-1) as an example of “valuations
[that] seem more theoretical than real.” The focus of the Banner Program investigation was not on dollar amounts,
but on the inability of City agencies to be careful stewards of an income-generating asset, The dollar amount put
forth was the market value of the advertising at the time. Moreover, the accuracy of the dollar amount was not
raised in the responses to the OIG’s report. The OIG will clarify its definition of waste and savings within the
policy manual and in its update to the BBMR Budget Publication.

The Review also suggested that tracking actual changes in City policies and procedures would be a worthy OIG
performance measure. However, under the Charter, the OIG lacks the authority to change City policies and
procedures outside the OIG. Although the OIG’s investigative reports may influence an agency to reconsider its
policies or procedures, there is no guarantee the agency will do so. Accordingly, it would be inappropriate to
assess the OIG’s performance base on a metric over which it has no control.

Response to Review Section 1V(e) - Investigative Coordination with Agencies

The Review suggests that the OIG is deficient in “leveraging” the resources of other City agencies. However, the
OIG often reaches out to City agencies for background information prior to and during an investigation. Moreover,
the OIG cannot complete any preliminary inquiry or investigation without communicating directly with agencies
and employees who have knowledge of the subject matter. As stated during the August 25" Board meeting and
the budget review, the OIG has worked closely with numerous City agencies throughout the last four years,
including the Law Department, the Office of the Comptroller, and the many agencies under the Mayor’s Office.

Additionally, although the nature and scope of OIG investigations are usually confidential and cannot fully be
shared, the OIG does its best to determine whether the subject and/or subject matter of a complaint has been
investigated prior to the OIG’s involvement. The OIG also regularly refers complaints outside of its jurisdiction
to other agencies.

Response to Review Section 1V(g) - Budget

The OIG plans to submit its budget material to the Board at the end of January.

Response to Review Section V - Independence

I understand that the current makeup of the Board is mandated by Article X of the City Charter. I also acknowledge
that I supported Article X. I also support OIG independence, and Article X was progress on that front. However,
with time and study, I have come to realize that the current makeup of the Board—with a core of City elected and
appointed officials—is not in line with best practice and poses obvious conflicts for the OIG’s independence. I
will therefore continue to draw attention to the need to reconstitute the Board with individuals who are not directly
within the OIG’s investigational purview.

As an additional note on this front, the Review states that the Board has not received a request from the OIG for
any specific Board member to be recused, implying, that any such conflict must not exist. However, the Board
can appreciate that requesting a specific recusal, not only could jeopardize an OIG investigation, but could be
contrary to confidentiality mandates.

Conclusion

I have been honored to lead the OIG during the past four years. I thank the Board for its time and attention, and
appreciate that the Review found [ am doing an effective job with a team that is hard working and highly talented.
I remain committed to carrying out the OIG’s important obligations under the Charter.
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